

## **Role of Endogenous Hormonal System in the Realization of the Antistress Action of Plant Growth Regulators on Plants**

### Farida M. Shakirova\* • Azamat M. Avalbaev • Marina V. Bezrukova • Guzel R. Kudoyarova

Institute of Biochemistry and Genetics, Ufa Scientific Centre, Russian Academy of Sciences, pr. Octyabrya, 71, 450054, Ufa, Russia Corresponding author: \* shakiroya@anrb.ru

### ABSTRACT

The endogenous hormonal system plays a leading role in the regulation of growth and development of plants. This regulatory system responds sensitively to even slight changes in the plant environment, which is manifested in reorganization of the hormonal status. Detrimental factors lead to an imbalance in the content of different groups of phytohormones, as a rule reflected in the accumulation of abscisic acid (ABA) and in a parallel decline in the content of metabolism-stimulating hormones indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and cytokinins. In total, these changes in hormone content in plants are related to inducing an effective stress response of plants accompanied however with inhibition of growth processes and plant productivity. This makes actual application of natural growth regulators characterized by growth-stimulating and anti-stress activity to increase both plant resistance and productivity as well. The present mini review mainly concentrates on the shifts in endogenous phytohormones (ABA, IAA and cytokinins) level caused by application of hormones such as, brassinosteroids, cytokinins and salicylic acid (SA). The main attention is focused on the role of these changes in endogenous hormones in the realization of growth-stimulating and protective function of applied plant growth regulators (PGRs). It is necessary to underline that simultaneous analysis of different groups of phytohomones allowed us to reveal a complex pattern of changes in plant hormonal system in response to treatments with exogenous growth regulators and to evaluate their contribution to the control of resistance to stress factors.

Keywords: abiotic stresses, abscisic acid, brassinosteroids, cytokinins, auxins, plant growth regulators, resistance, salicylic acid Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid; ACC, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid; BR, brassinosteroids; CKX, cytokinin oxidase; EBR, 24-epibrassinolide; GA, gibberellin; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; JA, jasmonic acid; PGR, plant growth regulator; PR, pathogenesisrelated protein; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SA, salicylic acid; SAR, systemic acquired resistance; WGA, wheat germ agglutinin

### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
PHYSIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE OF PHYTOHORMONES	
INVOLVEMENT OF ABA IN RESPONSES TO ABIOTIC STRESSES	
RESISTANCE-INDUCING PHYTOHORMONES	
SALICYLIC ACID - INDUCTOR OF UNSPECIFIC PLANT RESISTANCE	
INVOLVEMENT OF CYTOKININS IN PROTECTIVE RESPONSE OF PLANTS	
BRASSINOSTEROIDS AND ESTABLISHMENT OF STRESS RESISTANCE	
CONCLUSION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

### INTRODUCTION

Terrestrial plants are sessile and can not move away from environmental stress conditions that can negatively affect their growth and development. As a result, they have to develop and/or strengthen various biochemical and physiological mechanisms to respond and adapt to these stress conditions and thus, acquire stress tolerance. These mechanisms are in fact, based on the effective integration system regulating cell metabolic activity involved in mediating the switch from normal to stress genetic programs and enabling adequate protection at whole organism level. Hormonal system is the essential link in regulation of these processes, which also cross-talk with other signalling pathways in coordination of the defence reaction start, which enables adaptation of plants to stressful environments (Wu *et al.* 2007; Ashraf *et al.* 2008).

Hormonal system is very sensitive to the slightest chan-

ges in conditions for plant growth (Davies *et al.* 2005). Stress-adaptation is determined by the pattern of changes in the concentration ratio of several interacting hormones as well as by the ability of each of hormones to influence endogenous levels of the others (Reski 2006; Malladi and Burns 2007; Goda *et al.* 2008; Schachtman and Goodger 2008; Zhao 2008). Plants control the endogenous level of phytohormones through their synthesis, conjugation with different compounds, transport in plants as well as through their degradation, based on different expression of genes, encoding enzymes of hormone metabolism (Chen *et al.* 2005; Woodward and Bartel 2005; Grennan 2006; Wasternack 2007; Catinot *et al.* 2008; Stirk *et al.* 2008; Symons *et al.* 2008; Wasilewska *et al.* 2008).

The mutual effect of hormones on concentration of each other is frequently due to ability of almost each hormone to influence synthesis, degradation or transport of other hormones (Goda *et al.* 2008). Thus, auxin mediates a very

rapid negative control of the cytokinin pool by mainly suppressing the biosynthesis via the isopentenyladenosine-5monophosphate-independent pathway (Nordstrom et al. 2004). Ethylene production has been shown to be regulated by several hormones due to their influence on transcript or protein levels of ethylene biosynthesis genes (Vandenbussche and Van Der Straeten 2007). Thus, auxin is a strong stimulator of ethylene production, resulting from auxin-induced accumulation of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) synthase transcript. On the contrary ethylene may influence not only synthesis of auxin, but also its transport. Thus, the ethylene-induced inhibition of lateral roots formation is dependent on auxin influx mediated by the Arabidopsis AUX1 protein. Effects of cytokinins on ethylene production are believed to be important components of the mechanism of action of these hormones in plants. Elevated ethylene production was observed in cytokinintreated plants, which is likely to be due to stabilization of ACC synthase compared to non-treated plants. Opposite effect on ethylene production has been demonstrated for ABA. Recent studies show that increased concentrations of ABA are required to prevent excess ethylene production from tissues under water deficit condition (LeNoble et al. 2004). Hormonal effects on the degradation of other hormones have also been reported. Thus application of ABA to maize (Zea mays) and wheat (Triticum aestivum) plants induced expression of cytokinin oxidase gene (CKX) and activity of corresponding enzyme catalyzing oxidative decay of cytokinins (Brugiere et al. 2003; Vysotskaya et al. 2009).

# PHYSIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE OF PHYTOHORMONES

Each phytohormone is known to be involved in regulation of such integral physiological processes as growth, development and differentiation of plants under normal conditions and under environmental changes indicating an active interaction of hormones with each other (Chow and McCourt 2004; Arteca and Arteca 2008; Goda *et al.* 2008; Kuppusamy *et al.* 2008; Bari and Jones 2009). There are convincing evidences of multi-functionality of hormones and overlap between each set of hormone-inducible effects. They were obtained in experiments using mutants defective in hormonal synthesis or response as well as in experiments with plants treated with exogenous hormones or inhibitors of their biosynthesis (Chow and McCourt 2004; Reski 2006; Goda *et al.* 2008; Wang and Zhang 2008; Urano *et al.* 2009).

Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), the main representative of auxins in plants, plays a special role in modulating tropic responses to light and gravitation, formation of roots, shoots and reproductive organs, development and differentiation of vessels, apical dominance. All these effects are achieved through regulation of expression of the family of IAAresponsive genes (Woodward and Bartel 2005). A key role in the regulation of growth, morphogenesis, inhibition of apical dominance in shoots, biogenesis of chloroplasts, processes of photosynthesis and nitrogen metabolism, transpiration, senescence and others belongs to cytokinins (Hirose et al. 2007, 2008), which is also due to induction of cytokinin-responsive genes (Boonman et al. 2007; Zubo et al. 2008). Moreover, cytokinins are involved in the control of adaptation of plants to changing environment (Kudoyarova et al. 2007; Srivastava et al. 2007). Gibberellins are important in regulation of the transition from dormancy to germination, elongation of hypocotyls and stem, extension of leaves, formation of flowers and fruit set as well as in plant response to environmental factors (such as, light and temperature) realized by means of induction of the gibberellinsensitive genes (Huerta et al. 2008). Ethylene is involved in regulation of such important processes as cell extension growth, senescence, formation of reproductive organs, leaf abscission, fruit ripening and graviptropism. The hormone is also implicated in triggering defence reactions in respon-

ses to biotic and abiotic stresses, which is achieved through expression of ethylene-sensitive genes (Chen et al. 2005). Salicylic acid (SA) and methylsalicylate participate in regulation of various physiological processes including flowering, thermogenesis, stomatal closure and ion transport as well as in initiation of protective responses of plants against biotic and abiotic stresses, which is also due to induction of a wide range of genes by SA (Rajjou et al. 2006; Horvath et al. 2007). Jasmonic acid (JA) and its derivative methyljasmonate, which are nowadays classified as phytohormones, induce a wide range of physiological and developmental responses, namely flowering, tuberization, fruit ripening, storage processes, senescence, transport of photoassimilates, induction of defence reactions in response to wounding, attack of pathogens and pests, action of abiotic stress factors such as drought and salinity, which is due to activation of transcription of a wide spectrum of jasmonate sensitive genes (Walia et al. 2007; Wasternack 2007). Brassinosteroids (BR), steroid phytohormones belong to a unique group of hormones that manifest their physiological activity in extremely low concentrations. They play a key role in induction of germination and cell growth by division and extension, stem elongation, pollen tube growth, differentiation of xylem, leaf epinasty, photosynthesis, fruit ripening and adaptation to different stresses (Mussig 2005; Bajguz and Hayat 2009). Adaptation of various physiological processes in plants is also realized through induction of genes sensitive to BR (Haubrick and Assmann 2006; Kagale et al. 2007). Abscisic acid (ABA) is the phytohormone of vital importance implicated in regulation of plant growth and development within the whole period of ontogenesis including ripening, senescence, seed dormancy and germination, development of lateral roots, functioning of stomata, transition from the vegetative to the reproductive phase (Christmann et al. 2006; Wang and Zhang 2008; Wasilewska et al. 2008).

Thus, hormones are strongly involved in regulation of plant development at normal and stress environment. They initiate and control adaptation process.

# INVOLVEMENT OF ABA IN RESPONSES TO ABIOTIC STRESSES

Drought, disturbance of temperature regime, salinity and toxic ions are most important environmental factors, which are critical for survival of plants and lead to significant losses of crop productivity. Responses to these stresses are known to be interconnected, employing common signaling pathways, which allow cell adaptation and lead to similar changes in plants on morphological, physiological, biochemical and molecular/or genetic levels (Verslues et al. 2006; Zengin 2006; Huang et al. 2008; Vasquez-Robinet et al. 2008; Potters et al. 2009). Increased synthesis and accumulation of ABA having frequently a transitory pattern may be characterized as the universal response to these stressful impacts leading to water regime imbalance (Xiong et al. 2002; Vasquez-Robinet et al. 2008; Urano et al. 2009). Thus, ABA plays a key role in the movement of stomata and induction of a wide spectrum of genes coding for protective proteins (Chinnusamy et al. 2004; Christmann et al. 2006; Wang and Zhang 2008).

In fact, stomatal closure belongs to early plant responses to stress caused by ABA-induced increase in cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration followed by activation of ion channels in cell membrane, loss of turgor by guard cells and decrease in stomatal aperture, ABA-induced production of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, serving as an intermediate signal to promote stomatal closure (Reski 2006; Schachtman and Goodger 2008). It is necessary to underline that alongside with inducing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) ABA is involved in up-regulation of genes and activities of corresponding antioxidant enzymes (Bari and Jones 2009) providing a protection against oxidative stress caused by conditions unfavourable for plant growth. Stress-induced endogenous ABA accumulation regulates the increase in saccharopine, most amino acids and organic acids levels (Urano *et al.* 2009). ABA is of pivotal importance for the induction of biosynthesis and accumulation of proline known as osmoprotectant which is involved in stabilization of biopolymers and cell membranes and protection against injurious action of ROS (Yu *et al.* 2008).

Induction of ABA-sensitive genes is the basis of regulatory effect of ABA rendering to plants higher stress resistant. Recently, about 2000 drought-inducible genes have been identified using whole genome oligonucleotide microarray in Arabidopsis thaliana during progressive drought stress. About two thirds of these genes were regulated by ABA or its analogue (PB1425) (Huang et al. 2008) thus, confirming the significance of ABA in protection of plants against stress. Among ABA-induced genes, important role belongs to those encoding dehydrins. These proteins are peculiar to all taxonomic groups of the plant kingdom. Their massive accumulation is observed in plant seed embryos during their dehydration. However, sharp increase in expression of dehydrin genes and accumulation of their protein products is registered in vegetative plant tissues subjected to dehydration. Dehydrins are the most abundant among stress proteins induced under these conditions (Allagulova et al. 2003). Physico-chemical properties of dehydrins are determined by peculiarities of their structure, including the obligatory presence of 15-aminoacid K-segment capable to form the secondary amphiphyll  $\alpha$ -spiral. These properties enable involvement of dehydrins in protecting against denaturation, preserving integrity of cellular structures and stabilizing membranes under conditions of dehydration. Induction of expression of dehydrin genes and accumulation of their protein products also take place under normal conditions in ABA-treated plants (Allagulova et al. 2003; Shakirova et al. 2005). Sensitivity of the genes of dehydrins to ABA and different stress factors is determined by the presence in their promoters of different combinations of cis-regulated elements interacting with each other and with various ABA-induced trans-factors (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2007; Chung and Parish 2008)

The gene coding for wheat germ agglutinin (WGA), alongside with a wide range of other stress proteins, belongs to ABA-responsive genes. WGA is a typical representative of cereal lectins and a constitutive wheat protein, which concentration in plant tissues changes significantly during development. Significant reversible increase in WGA content was observed in wheat plants in response to salinity, drought, osmotic stress and heat shock, infection with fungal pathogens, preceded by accumulation of endogenous ABA (Shakirova 2001). Data showing a decline in stressinduced oxidative damage in seedlings pretreated with WGA and an accelerated renewal of growth processes during the post-stress period in these plants confirm that WGA is an active participant in ABA-induced wheat resistance (Bezrukova *et al.* 2008).

It is necessary to underline that ABA is only one although most important out of many other components of the system of hormonal regulation in stressed plants. Alongside with accumulation of ABA plant response to stress factors also involves changes in concentration of other hormones functioning in integrated regulatory system. Nowadays a lot of accumulated data shows that as a rule abiotic stresses lead to a decline in concentration of growth-promoting hormones: auxins, gibberellins, cytokinins (Alvarez et al. 2008; Ghanem et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2008). A number of genes encoding proteins responsive to gibberillic acid and auxin were identified as drought- and ABA-down-regulated genes, suggesting that these hormones may modulate drought stress signalling by acting antagonistically to ABA (Huang et al. 2008). Thus, stress-induced decline in the content of gibberellins and auxins may contribute to the development of an adequate stress response. The importance of decreased auxin level is supported by observation that mutants over-expressing GH3-gene, coding for an enzyme that catalyses conjugation of auxins, had both low IAA content and increased resistance to abiotic stresses (Park 2007).

Cross-talk between hormones controlling the same processes related to growth or defence mechanisms is achieved at many different stages of signal transduction pathways or during downstream responses (Kuppusamy et al. 2008; Bari and Jones 2009). These pathways frequently interact through co-regulation of stability of key transduction components. Ubiqiutin/proteosome system enabling selective protein degradation was shown to be essential for almost all of plant hormone responses. The example of hormone interaction at this level is in that gibberellins (GA) and ethylene antagonistically regulate the stability of DELLA proteins which normally function to restrain growth. GA acts to promote DELLA protein degradation, hence stimulating plant growth, whereas ethylene stabilizes DELLA proteins, thereby causing growth inhibition (Dugardeyn et al. 2008). Hormonal pathway interactions may also occur through the combinatorial regulation of common target genes. There are a number of evidences proving that transcriptional targets of auxin and BR significantly overlap. Consistent with this several studies found impaired auxin-responsive gene expression in BR-deficient backgrounds and synergistic enhancement of the expression levels of auxin- and BRresponsive genes by simultaneous treatment with both hormones. Ethylene and jasmonate pathways converge to induce the expression of ethylene response factor 1 (ERF1), which encodes a transcription factor required to regulate the expression of defence genes (Kuppusamy et al. 2008). Such induction requires the presence of both JA- and ethylene pathways because mutations blocking either of the pathways prevent the expression of ERF1.

Taking into account the multi-hormonal regulation of most of processes in plants, great attention is paid to development of modern highly sensitive and rapid methods of measuring concentration of different hormones in the same plant extract (Forcat *et al.* 2008). It is necessary to underline that simultaneous measurement of different groups of hormones in the same plants allows researchers to draw a complex picture of stress-induced reorganization of the state of hormonal system and to evaluate its importance for regulation of plant resistance.

### **RESISTANCE-INDUCING PHYTOHORMONES**

The problem of stress-resistance is most important for plant breeding and is under a steadfast attention of researchers all over the world. This is indeed the case, since information concerning the chain of reactions taking place in plants in response to extreme external conditions may really contribute to an increase in plant resistance and productivity. These goals are achieved not only by means of selection of stress tolerant cultivars, but also through the purposeful manipulation of adaptation with the help of growth regulators (Ashraf et al. 2008). Due to this, the interest of researchers to growth regulators is not casual. These substances combine the properties of growth activators and inductors of unspecific resistance which reveal a perspective for their practical application in plant growth. The survival of plants is due to their ability to resist extreme environment and to adapt to it. However, realization of natural protective mechanisms that take place in plants, when conditions become worse, is well known to be accompanied by a decline in their productivity (Wu et al. 2007). And since plant breeding demands an intensification of not only plant resistance, but in the first place of productivity, aimed application of regulators of plant growth and development capable to increase both of them are of high priority. It is obvious that not any PGR may be used, but those, which are characterized by a wide spectrum of their protective action. Effectiveness of application of PGRs depends strongly on their acting concentration (the use of excessively high concentrations may cause an opposite result). Effective concentrations are different with different cultivars, phases of plant development and means of treatment.

#### SALICYLIC ACID – INDUCTOR OF UNSPECIFIC PLANT RESISTANCE

Salicylic acid (SA) is an endogenous growth regulator, which exogenous application provides a perspective for increasing plant resistance and productivity due to its revealed key role in induction of systemic acquired resistance (SAR). SA-induced expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins is in the basis of this phenomenon (Yang et al. 2004). A significant amount of experimental data demonstrates with convincing evidence participation of both endogenous and exogenous SA in establishing resistance of different plant species not only to biotic, but also to various abiotic stress factors such as oxidative stress, salinity, high and low temperature, water stress, heavy metals (Yang et al. 2004; Liu et al. 2006; Horvath et al. 2007). This allows the classification of this regulator as a plant stress hormone. An important impact for realization of SA-induced resistance may be exerted by the effect of SA on hormonal status of plants. Thus, seed sowing or treatment of seedlings with SA had a growth stimulating effect linked to fast transitory parallel accumulation of IAA and ABA. This growth stimulating effect manifested also in increased productivity of wheat plants (Shakirova et al. 2003). Stimulating effect of SA is likely to be due to SA-induced increase in concentration of IAA observed in wheat plants. Accumulation of ABA in SA-treated plants may be of pivotal importance for induction of expression of *TADHN* gene for dehydrin, accumulation of WGA and proline, as well as for activation of antioxidant enzymes (Shakirova 2007), all these effects being important components of SA-induced pre-adaptation to a forthcoming stress. Pretreatment of wheat seedlings with SA decreased significantly the level of injurious effect of salinity on their growth. Moreover, after removal of the stressor from the media, these SA-pretreated plants restored quickly their growth potential, which was likely to be due to diminished amplitude of stress-induced shifts in the content of IAA, cytokinins as well as that of ROS production and activity of antioxidant enzymes reflected in a decline in malondialdehyde content and electrolyte leakage.

Consequently, accumulation of ABA in the course of pretreatment of plant with SA is likely to play a key role in SA-induced resistance of wheat plants (Shakirova *et al.* 2003). Other data may also support the notion that SA interact with ABA in establishing plant resistance to abiotic stresses (Liu *et al.* 2006). In total, the data showing a key role of SA in induction of SAR and establishment of a complex of protective reactions in response to abiotic stresses allows to consider SA as an inducer of unspecific plant resistance. Thus, the state of hormonal and pro-/antioxidant systems in SA-treated plants makes a significant contribution to the SA-induced unspecific resistance (Shakirova 2007), opening a wide perspective for the usage of this endogenous growth regulator in agriculture.

# INVOLVEMENT OF CYTOKININS IN PROTECTIVE RESPONSE OF PLANTS

Since cytokinins are known to be necessary for plant growth, attempts have been made to apply synthetic cytokinins to increase their growth rate and productivity (Liu and Huang 2002). It is important to note that to exert a beneficial effect on plant growth the changes in concentration of cytokinins inside the plants should be in a physiological range and not superoptimal. Exceedingly high levels of cytokinins may result in an opposite effect, which is frequently the case with ipt-transgenic plants. These plants overproduce cytokinins due to expression of genes coding for isopentenyltransferase responsible for cytokinin synthesis in bacteria and plants. In such transgenic plants accumulation of high toxic cytokinins levels results in a disturbance of normal plant growth and development (Ainley et al. 1993; Hare et al. 1997). Necessity of cytokinins for shoot physiology was supported by the growth inhibition observed in transgenic plants deficient for cytokinins (Werner et al. 2008). These

results prompt that synthetic cytokinins should be applied to plants in optimal concentration. This may be achieved by introducing cytokinin synthesizing bacteria into the plant rhizosphere (Arkhipova *et al.* 2007). These bacteria have been shown to produce cytokinin bound to polysaccharides. Slow dissociation of hormones from this complex maintained their increased concentration in physiological range and invariably stimulated plant growth. The consequences of such treatments for ability of plants to cope with stresses cannot be easily predicted.

Cytokinin content is mostly decreased in stressed plants (Alvarez et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2008), which is believed to contribute to their survival under unfavourable conditions, since the decline in plant growth rate due to a drop in cytokinin content should help a plant to mobilize resources necessary for defence reactions. Although this response may be beneficial for survival of plants, this decline in plant growth rate and productivity is not what farmers may be happy with. It may seem rather unexpected, but quite a promising perspective that treatment of plants with synthetic cytokinins frequently increased their resistance to high temperature, drought, flooding, heavy metals and other unfavourable external factors (Hare et al. 1997; Liu and Huang 2002). This may be explained by up-regulation of some genes important for protection of plants against stresses (enabling increased level of proline, isoforms of PR protein, osmotin, etc.) observed in plants treated with exogenous cytokinins (Hare et al. 1997). Recent data confirmed involvement of cytokinins in the responses triggering protection of plants against abiotic and biotic stresses. Thus, the balance of cytokinin and auxin influenced the expression of specific peroxidases providing a defence regulating mechanism (Potters et al. 2007). Expression of cytokinin responsive genes was enhanced under salinity, dehydration and low temperature stress in rice (Hirose et al. 2007). Genomewide analyses of Arabidopsis seedlings using the approximately 8,300-element Affymetrix Arabidopsis GeneChips (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA) to examine cytokinin-responsive gene revealed an effect of cytokinins on redox state. Thus, both a glutathione S-transferase and a glutaredoxin were up-regulated (Rashotte et al. 2003). The usage of transgenic plants adds new evidences of cytokinin implication in stress responses. Overexpression of genes that code for cytokinin degrading oxidase (CKX) enzymes was used to produce tobacco and Arabidopsis plants with reduced cytokinin content. These plants show a phenotype called the cytokinin deficiency syndrome. Ultrastructural changes observed in meristem and leaf cells of cytokinin deficient transgenic tobacco plants were indicative of enhanced oxidative stress suggesting an involvement of cytokinins in limiting oxidative damage (Werner et al. 2008). During drought transcripts encoding antioxidative enzymes were up-regulated in the transgenic plants expressing an isopentenyltransferase gene driven by a stress-induced promoter (Rivero et al. 2007). In these experiments transcript expression correlated well with changes in enzymatic activities for the different ROS-scavenging enzymes resulting in outstanding drought tolerance. Thus, all the data indicate involvement of cytokinins in stress signalling.

Since cytokinins maintain stomata in open state, increasing in this way the transpiration losses by plants (Davies et al. 2005), they are likely to make plants more susceptible to drought. However no such effect was observed in plants inoculated with cytokinin producing bacteria, which stomata closed under conditions of water deficit despite accumulation of cytokinins (Arkhipova et al. 2007). In this case stomatal closure was shown to be due to accumulation of ABA in parallel to cytokinins in inoculated plants. In some experiments, effect of cytokinins on stress resistance of plants was shown to be modified by cytokinin-induced increase in ethylene production (Hare et al. 1997). Thus, ability of cytokinins to diminish stress-induced inhibition of growth in stressed plants and simultaneously to protect them against stresses may be partially due to cytokinininduced changes in concentration of other hormones in

# BRASSINOSTEROIDS AND ESTABLISHMENT OF STRESS RESISTANCE

Soon after identification of brassinolide, being the first representative of a new class of phytohormones brassinosteroids (BR) in plants, laboratory and field experiments revealed not only their growth stimulating activity, but also protective action in plants of different species experiencing low or high temperature, drought, salinity, toxic effect of heavy metals, oxidative stress and attack of pathogens (Kagale *et al.* 2007; Bajguz and Hayat 2009). All these effects lead to increased productivity of BR-treated plants. Combination of these growth stimulating and protective properties of exogenous BR is due to their tight interaction with other hormones (ethylene, auxin, gibberellins, ABA, SA, JA) (Arteca and Arteca 2008; Vert *et al.* 2008; Bari and Jones 2009).

Experiments with wheat seedlings revealed that 24epibrassinolide (EBR)-treatment resulted in a fast and lasting two-fold accumulation of cytokinins in plants on the background of the absence of any noticeable changes in concentration of IAA or ABA (Avalbaev et al. 2003). It is important to note that treatment of canola seedlings with brassinolide had also no effect on concentration of endogenous ABA in leaf tissue (Kurepin et al. 2008). EBR enables maintaining concentration of active forms of cytokinins immunoreactive to antiserum obtained against zeatin riboside. This effect is achieved through a decline in both expression of CKX gene and activity of corresponding enzyme (Avalbaev et al. 2006). These results allow us to suggest that endogenous cytokinins may serve as mediators intensifying physiological action of EBR in wheat plants. Evidence of this is also provided by prevention of a sharp decline in cytokinin content in wheat seedlings pretreated with EBR correlating with a reduced level of injurious effect of salt-stress on the seedlings growth (own unpublished results). As mentioned above, cytokinins are involved in the control of plant resistance to stresses, especially to those leading to dehydration (Davies et al. 2005). In connection with this, maintaining cytokinin concentration on the control level in salt-stressed BR-pre-treated plants may be important for establishment of EBR-mediated stress responses.

Moreover, EBR was shown to induce expression of *TADHN* dehydrin and *WGA* genes in wheat seedling (Shakirova *et al.* 2002; Allagulova *et al.* 2007), while these proteins, as mentioned above, are important components of plant protection against injurious stress factors of environment. It is worthwhile to underline that EBR-treatment itself does not lead to changes in ABA content in wheat plants. This indicates that BR may control the level of wheat TADHN dehydrin and lectin in an ABA-independent manner, these proteins making an important contribution to the effect of pre-adaptation of EBR-treated plants to the possible forthcoming stresses. In connection with the presented data, it is important to underline, that in *Arabidopsis* plants some genes were co-regulated by BR and both ABA and drought (Huang *et al.* 2008).

Despite the numerous data demonstrating effectiveness of application of BR to increase plant productivity, the chain of reactions underlying the BR-induced increase in plant resistance to various injurious factors of environment are still not understood. Moreover, the role of endogenous BR in establishment of stress resistance remains unclear (Jager *et al.* 2008). However, it is the practice itself that dictates the necessity of the study of mechanisms of BR-induced effects. It opens new perspectives for increasing plant defense based on the application of BR in extremely low concentrations in agriculture. This increases the importance of the study of the mechanisms of BR-induced unspecific resistance of cultivated plants.

#### CONCLUSION

In total, the available data and/or literature display great possibilities of application of growth regulators with the aim of increasing productivity of plants frequently subjected to changing environment. Exogenous application of hormones not only stimulates plant growth and development, but also contributes to inducing unspecific resistance to various unfavourable factors of environment. It is due to combination of the properties of growth activators and inductors of unspecific resistance, for example, revealed for cytokinins, BR and SA, that those hormones have such a great potential for practice. Their application in extremely low concentrations triggers a wide range of response reactions appearing to be due their action on endogenous system of hormonal regulation of plant metabolism in total, which prepares plants to subsequent stress situations. This reflects in a decline in the level of injurious action of stress environmental factors on intensity of the growth processes in particular and in an increase in plant productivity in total. In connection with this, the study of the pattern of changes in the state of hormonal system caused by exogenous growth regulators seems to be very important to achieve an increase in plant productivity.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (project no. 08-04-01563a), the Foundation for Promotion of Russian Science and the President of Russian Federation Supporting young Scientists (MK-4081.2008.4) and the Leading Scientific Schools (NSh-915.2008.4).

#### REFERENCES

- Ainley WM, McNeil KJ, Hill JW, Lingle WL, Simpson RB, Brenner ML, Nagao RT, Key JL (1993) Regulatable endogenous production of cytokinins up to "toxic" levels in transgenic plants and plant tissues. *Plant Molecular Biology* 22, 13-23
- Allagulova ChR, Gimalov FR, Avalbaev AM, Sakhabutdinova AR, Yuldashev RA, Shakirova FM (2007) Structure of the *TADHN* gene for dehydrinlike protein of soft wheat and activation of its expression by ABA and 24epibrassinolide. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 54, 115-120
- Allagulova ChR, Gimalov FR, Shakirova FM, Vakhitov VA (2003) The plant dehydrins: Structure and putative functions. *Biochemistry (Moscow)* 68, 945-951
- Alvarez S, Marsh EL, Schroeder SG, Schachtman DP (2008) Metabolomic and proteomic changes in the xylem sap of maize under drought. *Plant, Cell* and Environment 31, 325-340
- Arkhipova TN, Prinsen E, Veselov SU, Martinenko EV, Melentiev AI, Kudoyarova GR (2007) Cytokinin producing bacteria enhance plant growth in drying soil. *Plant and Soil* 292, 305-315
- Arteca RN, Arteca JM (2008) Effects of brassinosteroid, auxin, and cytokinin on ethylene production in *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 3019-3026
- Ashraf M, Athar HR, Harris PJC, Kwon TR (2008) Some prospective strategies for improving crop salt tolerance. Advances in Agronomy 97, 45-110
- Avalbaev AM, Bezrukova MV, Shakirova FM (2003) Effect of brassinosteroids on the hormonal balance in wheat seedlings. *Doklady Akademii Nauk* 391, 337-339
- Avalbaev AM, Yuldashev RA, Vysotskaya LB, Shakirova FM (2006) Regulation of gene expression and activity of cytokinin oxidase in the roots of wheat seedlings by 24-epibrassinolide. *Doklady Akademii Nauk* 410, 317-319
- Bajguz A, Hayat S (2009) Effects of brassinosteroids on the plant responses to environmental stresses. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **47**, 1-8
- Bari R, Jones JD (2009) Role of plant hormones in plant defence responses. Plant Molecular Biology 69, 473-488
- Bezrukova M, Kildibekova A, Shakirova F (2008) WGA reduces the level of oxidative stress in wheat seedlings under salinity. *Plant Growth Regulation* 54, 195-201
- Boonman A, Prinsen E, Gilmer F, Schurr U, Peeters AJM, Voesenek LACJ, Pons TL (2007) Cytokinin import rate as a signal for photosynthetic acclimation to canopy light gradients. *Plant Physiology* **143**, 1841-1852
- Brugiere N, Jiao S, Hantke S, Zinselmeier C, Roessler JA, Niu X, Jones RJ, Habben JE (2003) Cytokinin oxidase gene expression in maize is localized to the vasculature, and is induced by cytokinins, abscisic acid, and abiotic stress. *Plant Physiology* **132**, 1228-1240
- Catinot J, Buchala A, Abou-Mansour E, Metraux J-P (2008) Salicylic acid production in response to biotic and abiotic stress depends on isochorismate

in Nicotiana benthamiana. FEBS Letters 582, 473-478

- Chen Y-F, Etheridge N, Schaller GE (2005) Ethylene signal transduction. *Annals of Botany* **95**, 901-915
- Chinnusamy V, Schumaker K, Zhu J-K (2004) Molecular genetic perspectives on cross-talk and specificity in abiotic stress signaling in plants. *Journal* of Experimental Botany 55, 225-236
- Chow B, McCourt P (2004) Hormone signalling from a developmental context. Journal of Experimental Botany 55, 247-251
- Christmann A, Moes D, Himmelbach A, Yang Y, Tang Y, Grill E (2006) Integration of abscisic acid signalling into plant responses. *Plant Biology* 8, 314-325
- Chung S, Parish RW (2008) Combination interactions of multiple *cis*-elements regulating the induction of the *Arabidopsis XERO2* dehydrin gene by abscisic acid and cold. *The Plant Journal* 54, 15-29
- Davies WJ, Kudoyarova GR, Hartung W (2005) Long-distance ABA signaling and its relation to other signaling pathways in the detection of soil drying and the mediation of the plant's response to drought. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 24, 285-295
- Dugardeyn J, Vandenbussche F, Van Der Straeten D (2008) To grow or not to grow: What can we learn on ethylene–gibberellin cross-talk by *in silico* gene expression analysis? *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 1-16
- Forcat S, Bennett MH, Mansfield JW, Grant MR (2008) A rapid and robust method for simultaneously measuring changes in the phytohormones ABA, JA and SA in plants following biotic and abiotic stress. *Plant Methods* 4, 16
- Ghanem ME, Albacete A, Martinez-Andujar C, Acosta M, Romero-Aranda R, Dodd IC, Lutts S, Perez-Alfocea F (2008) Hormonal changes during salinity-induced leaf senescence in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum L.*). Journal of Experimental Botany **59**, 3039-3050
- Goda H, Sasaki E, Akiyama K, Maruyama-Nakashita A, Nakabayashi K, Li W, Ogawa M, Yamauchi Y, Preston J, Aoki K, Kiba T, Takatsuto S, Fujioka S, Asami T, Nakano T, Kato H, Mizuno T, Sakakibara H, Yamaguchi S, Nambara E, Kamiya Y, Takahashi H, Hirai MY, Sakurai T, Shinozaki K, Saito K, Yoshida S, Shimada Y (2008) The AtGenExpress hormone and chemical treatment data set: Experimental design, data evaluation, model data analysis and data access. *The Plant Journal* 55, 526-542
- Grennan AK (2006) Gibberellin metabolism enzymes in rice. Plant Physiology 141, 524-526
- Hare PD, Cress WA, van Staden J (1997) The involvement of cytokinins in plant responses to environmental stress. *Plant Growth Regulation* 23, 79-103
- Haubrick LL, Assmann SM (2006) Brassinosteroids and plant function: Some clues, more puzzles. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 29, 446-457
- Hirose N, Makita N, Kojima M, Kamada-Nobusada T, Sakakibar H (2007) Overexpression of a type-A response regulator alters rice morphology and cytokinin metabolism. *Plant Cell Physiology* **48**, 523-539
- Hirose N, Takei K, Kuroha T, Kamada-Nobusada T, Hayashi H, Sakakibara H (2008) Regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis, compartmentalization and translocation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 75-83
- Horvath E, Szalai G, Janda T (2007) Induction of abiotic stress tolerance by salicylic acid signaling. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* **26**, 90-300
- Huang D, Wu W, Abrams SR, Cutler AJ (2008) The relationship of droughtrelated gene expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana* to hormonal and environmental factors. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 2991-3007
- Huerta L, Forment J, Gadea J, Fagoaga C, Pena L, Perez-Amador MA, Garcia-Martinez JL (2008) Gene expression analysis in citrus reveals the role of gibberellins on photosynthesis and stress. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 31, 1620-1633
- Jager CE, Symons GM, Ross JJ, Reid JB (2008) Do brassinosteroids mediate the water stress response? *Physiologia Plantarum* 133, 417-425
- Kagale S, Divi UK, Krochko JE, Keller WA, Krishna P (2007) Brassinosteroid confers tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Brassica napus* to a range of abiotic stresses. *Planta* 225, 353-364
- Kudoyarova GR, Vysotskaya LB, Cherkozyanova A, Dodd IC (2007) Effect of partial rootzone drying on the concentration of zeatin-type cytokinins in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) xylem sap and leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 161-168
- Kurepin LV, Qaderi MM, Back TG, Reid DM, Pharis RP (2008) A rapid effect of applied brassinolide on abscisic acid concentrations in *Brassica napus* leaf tissue subjected to short-term heat stress. *Plant Growth Regulation* 55, 165-167
- Kuppusamy KT, Walcyer CL, Nemhauser JL (2008) Cross-regulatory mechanisms in hormone signaling. *Plant Molecular Biology* 69, 375-381
- LeNoble ME, Spollen WG, Sharp RE (2004) Maintenance of shoot growth by endogenous ABA: Genetic assessment of the involvement of ethylene suppression. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 237-245
- Liu H, Liu Y, Pan Q, Yang H-R, Zhan J-C, Huang W-D (2006) Novel interrelationship between salicylic acid, abscisic acid, and PIP<sub>2</sub>-specific phospholipase C in heat acclimation-induced thermotolerance in pea leaves. *Journal* of *Experimental Botany* **57**, 3337-3347
- Liu X, Huang B (2002) Cytokinin effects on creeping bentgrass response to heat stress: II. Leaf senescence and antioxidant metabolism. *Crop Science* 42, 466-472
- Malladi A, Burns JK (2007) Communication by plant growth regulators in roots and shoots of horticultural crops. *HortScience* 42, 1113-1117

Mussig C (2005) Brassinosteroid-promotes growth. Plant Biology 7, 110-117

- Nordstrom A, Tarkowski P, Tarkowska D, Norbaek R, Astot C, Dolezal K, Sandberg S (2004) Auxin regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis thaliana: a factor of potential importance auxin–cytokinin-regulated development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 101, 8039-8044
- Park CM (2007) Auxin homeostasis in plant stress adaptation response. Plant Signaling and Behavior 2, 1-2
- Potters G, Pasternak TP, Guisez Y, Palme KJ, Jansen MAK (2007) Stressinduced morphogenic responses: Growing out of trouble? *Trends in Plant Science* 12, 98-105
- Potters G, Pasternak T, Guisez Y, Jansen MAK (2009) Different stresses, similar morphogenic responses: Integrating a plethora of pathways. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 32, 158-169
- Rajjou L, Belghazi M, Huguet R, Robin C, Moreau A, Job C, Job D (2006) Proteomic investigation of the effect of salicylic acid on *Arabidopsis* seed germination and establishment of early defense mechanisms. *Plant Physiol*ogy 141, 910-923
- Rashotte M, Carson SDB, To JPC, Kieber JJ (2003) Expression profiling of cytokinin action in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 132, 1998-2011
- Reski R (2006) Small molecules on the move: Homeostasis, crosstalk, and molecular action of phytohormones. *Plant Biology* 8, 277-280
- Rivero RM, Kojima M, Gepstein A, Sakakibara H, Mittler R, Gepstein Sh, Blumwald E (2007) Delayed leaf senescence induces extreme drought tolerance in a flowering plant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 104, 19631-19636
- Schachtman DP, Goodger JQD (2008) Chemical root to shoot signaling under drought. Trends in Plant Science 13, 281-287
- Shakirova FM (2001) Nonspecific Resistance of Plants to Stress Factors and its Regulation, Vakhitov VA (Ed), Gilem, Ufa, 160 pp
- Shakirova FM (2007) Role of hormonal system in manifestation of growth promoting and antistress action of salicylic acid. In: Hayat S, Ahmad A (Eds) Salicylic Acid – A Plant Hormone, Springer, The Netherlands, pp 69-89
- Shakirova FM, Allagulova ChR, Bezrukova MV, Gimalov FR (2005) Induction of expression of the dehydrin gene *TADHN* and accumulation of abscisic acid in wheat plants in hypothermia. *Doklady Biochemistry and Biophysics* 400, 69-71
- Shakirova FM, Bezrukova MV, Avalbaev AM, Gimalov FR (2002) Stimulation of wheat germ agglutinin gene expression in root seedlings by 24-epibrassinolide. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 49, 225-228
- Shakirova FM, Sakhabutdinova AR, Bezrukova MV, Fatkhutdinova RA, Fatkhutdinova DR (2003) Changes in hormonal status of wheat seedlings induced by salicylic acid and salinity. *Plant Science* 164, 317-322
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2007) Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 221-227
- Srivastava S, Emery RJN, Rahman MH, Kav NNV (2007) A crucial role for cytokinins in pea ABR17-mediated enhanced germination and early seedling growth of *Arabidopsis thaliana* under saline and low-temperature stresses. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 26, 26-37
- Stirk WA, Novak O, Vaclavikova K, Tarkowski P, Strand M, van Staden J (2008) Spatial and temporal changes in endogenous cytokinins in developing pea roots. *Planta* 227, 1279-1289
- Symons GM, Ross JJ, Jager CE, Reid JB (2008) Brassinosteroid transport. Journal of Experimental Botany 59, 17-24
- Urano K, Maruyama K, Ogata Y, Morishita Y, Takeda M, Sakurai N, Suzuki H, Saito K, Shibata D, Kobayashi M, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2009) Characterization of the ABA-regulated global responses to dehydration in *Arabidopsis* by metabolomics. *The Plant Journal* 57, 1065-1078
- Vandenbussche F, Van Der Straeten D (2007) One for all and all for one: Cross-talk of multiple signals controlling the plant phenotype. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 26, 178-187
- Vasquez-Robinet C, Mane SP, Ulanov AV, Watkinson JI, Stromberg VK, De Koeyer D, Schafleitner R, Willmot DB, Bonierbale M, Bohnert HJ, Grene R (2008) Physiological and molecular adaptations to drought in Andean potato genotypes. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 2109-2123
- Verslues PE, Agarwal M, Katiyar-Agarwal S, Zhu J, Zhu J-K (2006) Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. *The Plant Journal* 45, 523-539
- Vert G, Walcher CL, Chory J, Namhauser JL (2008) Integration of auxin and brassinosteroid pathways by auxin response factor 2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 105, 9829-9834
- Vysotskaya LB, Korobova AV, Veselov SU, Dodd IC, Kudoyarova GR (2009) ABA mediation of shoot cytokinin oxidase activity: assessing its impacts on cytokinin status and biomass allocation of nutrient deprived durum wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* **36**, 66-72
- Walia H, Wilson C, Condamine P, Liu X, Ismail AM, Close TJ (2007) Large-scale expression profiling and physiological characterization of jasmonic acid-mediated adaptation of barley to salinity stress. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30, 410-421
- Wang C, Yang A, Yin H, Zhang J (2008) Influence of water stress on endogenous hormone contents and cell damage of maize seedlings. *Journal of Integ-*

rative Plant Biology 50, 427-434

- Wang XF, Zhang DP (2008) Abscisic acid receptors: Multiple signal-perception sites. Annals of Botany 101, 311-317
- Wasilewska A, Vlad F, Sirichandra C, Redko Y, Jammes F, Valon C, Frey N, Leung J (2008) An update on abscisic acid signaling in plants and more... *Molecular Plant* 1, 198-217
- Wasternack C (2007) Jasmonates: An update on biosynthesis, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. *Annals of Botany* 100, 681-697
- Werner T, Holst K, Pors KY, Guivarc'h A, Mustroph A, Chriqui D, Grimm B, Schmulling T (2008) Cytokinin deficiency causes distinct changes of sink and source parameters in tobacco shoots and roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59, 2659-2672
- Woodward AW, Bartel B (2005) Auxin: Regulation, action, and interaction. Annals of Botany 95, 707-735
- Wu G, Zhang C, Chu LY, Shao HB (2007) Responses of higher plants to abiotic stresses and agricultural sustainable development. *Journal of Plant Interactions* 2, 135-147

- Xiong L, Schumaker KS, Zhu J-K (2002) Cell signaling during cold, drought, and salt stress. *The Plant Cell* 14, 165-183
- Yang Y, Qi M, Mei C (2004) Endogenous salicylic acid protects rice plants from oxidative damage caused by aging as well as biotic and abiotic stress. *The Plant Journal* **40**, 909-919
- Yu H, Chen X, Hong YY, Wang Y, Xu P, Ke SD, Liu HY, Zhu JK, Oliver DJ, Xiang CB (2008) Activated expression of an *Arabidopsis* HD-START protein confers drought tolerance with improved root system and reduced stomatal density. *The Plant Cell* 20, 1134-1151
- **Zengin FK** (2006) The effects of  $Co^{2+}$  and  $Zn^{2+}$  on the contents of protein, abscisic acid, proline and chlorophyll in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* cv. Strike) seedlings. *Journal of Environmental Biology* **27**, 441-448
- Zhao Y (2008) The role of local biosynthesis of auxin and cytokinin in plant development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11, 16-22
- Zubo YO, Yamburenko MV, Selivankina SY, Shakirova FM, Avalbaev AM, Kudryakova NV, Zubkova NK, Liere K, Kulaeva ON, Kusnetsov VV, Borner T (2008) Cytokinin stimulates chloroplast transcription in detached barley leaves. *Plant Physiology* 148, 1082-1093